

Effect of different levelsof orange (*Citrus sinensis*) waste juice extracts on broiler chickens performance

¹Ucop Haroen, ²Yetti Marlida, ²Mirzah and ¹Agus Budianyah

¹Departement of Nutrition and Animal Feed Science Technology, Faculty of Animal Science, Jambi University, Jambi 36361, Indonesia

²Departement of Agricultural, Faculty of Animal Husbandry, Andalas University, Padang 25163, Indonesia

Abstract

This study trial was conducted to evaluate the effect of orange (*Citrus sinensis*) waste juice extracts (OWJE) on performance in broilers chickens. A total of 240 unsexed broiler chicks unsexed (Arbor Acres CP-707) were randomly allocated to six treatments groups given varying concentrations of in supplemental OWJE in their drinking water for 35 d. The drinking water groups consisted of six drinking water containing OWJE for 35 days: (P0) = drinking water without containing antibiotics or OWJE (control); (P1) = drinking water containing without 0 ppm OWJE; (P2) = drinking water without containing 250 ppm OWJE; (P3) = drinking water without containing 500 ppm OWJE; (P4) = drinking water without containing 750 ppm OWJE; and (P5) = drinking water without containing 1000 ppm OWJE; water supplemented with an antibiotic only was used as a control. The growth responses achieved by broilers from all groups complied with the standards. However, supplementation with adding up to 1000 ppm OWJE in drinking water seems to increase feed intake, and body weight gain, thereby increasing the feed conversion ratio of both starter (days 1-21) and finisher (days 22-35) broilers, while Conversely, OWJE in the proportion of 750 ppm OWJE of drinking water seems to promote feed intake and weight gain in starters. These results the period between the 1-21 days old of age, indicating that OWJE can constitute is a useful additive for in the drinking water of promoting broilers chicken growth. Further Additional research is needed to assess the effects of OWJE to improve their suitability of OWJE as a feed additive which promotes resource for growth in poultry promoters.

Key words: Orange waste juice extract, broilers, growth promoters, feed additive

Abbreviations: OWJE: Orange waste juice extract; (P0) = drinking water containing only an without containing antibiotic (control); (P1) = drinking water without containing 0 ppm OWJE; (P2) = drinking water without containing 250 ppm OWJE; (P3) = drinking water without containing 500 ppm OWJE; (P4) = drinking water without containing 750 ppm OWJE; and (P5) = drinking water without containing 1000 ppm OWJE in whole period (starter and finisher).

Introduction

The use of feed additives to promote in livestock growth of livestock promoter or aims to improve productivity and animal health, and improve production efficiency (Pascual *et al.*, 1999). Further Due to concerns about of bacterial resistance, the use of antibiotics use has been under scrutiny. Different antibiotics were once commonly may be used

simultaneously or intermittently in the poultry diet. However, Bans on their use of antibiotics as growth promoters, has leading them to a search for find alternatives in animal feeding (Callaway *et al.*, 2008, Dibaji *et al* 2012, Aziz Mousavi *et al.*, 2012). In particular, oranges (*Citrus sinensis*) contain many One of these bioactive compounds from plants that can be used as growth promoters in broilers chicken drinking

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Comment [MB1]: Most journals prefer these superscripted items to come after the name.

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Level 1, Tab stops: 7.25 cm, Centered + 12.32 cm, Left

Formatted: Left

Formatted: Left, Level 1, Don't add space between paragraphs of the same style, Tab stops: 7.25 cm, Centered + 12.32 cm, Left

Comment [MB2]: Nonstandard abbreviations should be defined at first use in the Abstract, apart from the main text.

Comment [MLB3]: The methods section says "two hundred" (i.e., 200). Please clarify this discrepancy.

Comment [MB4]: Because the abbreviation for this unit of time is standardized, only the abbreviation is needed.

Comment [MLB5]: Please clarify whether the groups were given an antibiotic or not here and in the methods section. Furthermore, group abbreviations (P#) do not need to be included here because they are not used again in the abstract.

Comment [MLB6]: If all of the other treatment groups contained antibiotics, please clarify how the P0 treatment differed from that of P1 (also see related comment in methods section).

Comment [MLB7]: Please specify to which nation(s) [or worldwide] these standards refer to here and in the methods section.

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB8]: Please clarify whether the groups were given an antibiotic or not here and in the methods section.

Comment [MLB9]: Words should not be italicized unless they are Latin or gene abbreviations unless the target journal specified that keywords used within the text should be.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Comment [MLB10]: This is a sentence fragment. Please finish the thought.

Comment [MLB11]: Only one space is needed between the period ending the previous sentence and the first word of the next.

Formatted: Font: Italic

waters.

Oranges (*Citrus sinensis*) are one of the most important and oldest horticulture products in many tropical and sub-tropical areas. Further, orange waste juice is a primary by-product produced by the fruit processing industry, and attempts have been made to use orange waste juice extracts (OWJE) as a natural feed additive and even as medicinal supplement for animals (Callaway *et al.*, 2008, Miller *et al.*, 2004, Tanaka *et al.*, 2000). As bioactive compounds, OWJE orange waste juice extract are a valuable source of flavonoids, steroids, triterpenoids, phenolic, saponins, coumarin, and vitamin C (Miller *et al.* 2008, Fong *et al.*, 1990), and especially major compounds as limonoids (Haroen *et al.*, 2013, Yu *et al.*, 2005, Roy *et al.*, 2006). In many cases, its skin is even more nutritious than the fruit itself (*Citrus sinensis*). OWJE orange waste juice extract contains high concentrations of limonoid compounds (Haroen *et al.*, 2013). Previous studies have found that orange (*Citrus sinensis*) waste juice extract and other citrus waste juice extracts are also effective in lowering carcass cholesterol in broilers (Haroen 2014). Oluremi *et al.* (2006) reported that supplementation of broiler feed with up to 15% sweet orange rinds can be used in broiler diet without any adverse effects on growth performance. Conversely, Mourao *et al.* (2008) reported that adding 10% citrus pulp to broiler feed reduced daily weight gain when birds fed 10% citrus pulp compared with the control diet. Conversely, feed intake increased in broilers fed with 5% or 10% of citrus pulp, which resulted in higher feed efficiency in birds fed effect of different levels of OWJE orange waste juice extract as feed additive on performance of broiler chickens.

Materials and methods

Animals and dietary treatments

The current study was carried out in a poultry farm situated in the Jambi University Faculty of Animal Husbandry, Jambi University, (Jambi, Indonesia) in 2015. The study lasted a total of 35 days during 2015 and used scaffolding and pens with (dimensions of 2 x 1 x 1 m and height of 1 m installed) and each pen was assigned to a repeat. In preparation for the study, the poultry facility was carefully cleaned and rinsed using pressurized water in order to disinfect poultry facilities. After installation of manual drinkers and pan feeders in each pen, the hall was gasified 24 h before broilers allocation, the hall was gasified. These procedures were repeated before and after testing each of the four experimental replicates. Two hundred 1-day-old chicks (Arbor Acres CP-707) obtained from a commercial hatchery were raised in a conventional environment. The current study was conducted within a completely randomized design with six treatments. Drinking water (treatments) were replicated four times, with each experimental replicate comprising of one pen of 10 birds. The mean average body weight of broilers was on average 41.5 g. Chicks were vaccinated following the standard vaccination schedule, and in order to reduce the stress caused by vaccination to birds, 24 h before and after vaccination, a multi-electrolyte solution was added to the drinking water 24 h before and after administering vaccinations. The poultry facility had thermostatically controlled curtains, and cross-ventilation, and as well as a lighting program. Pens were also furnished equipped with a pan feeder, a manual drinker and wood shavings. Drinkers were regularly washed to prevent with faecal and microbial contaminations.

The two-phase feeding regime consisting of a starter (days 1 to 21-day) and finisher (days 22 to 35-day) period was used in the study. Experimental

Comment [MLB12]: This sentence was rephrased to improve English clarity and flow.

Comment [MLB13]: American English does not typically include hyphenation between prefixes and root words, with few exceptions.

Comment [MLB18]: This is assumed and not necessary to state.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Comment [MLB19]: This word is spelled with "z" instead of an "s" in American English.

Comment [MLB14]: 1) This word is spelled with a "ph" instead of an "f" in American English. 2) Please clarify whether you meant "phenols" in phenol compounds, "phenolic acid," or "polyphenols."

Comment [MLB20]: Please clarify what is meant by "gasified" in the text.

Comment [MLB21]: Please clarify whether the edit is correct as the original wording did not quite make sense.

If correct → the abstract says "240" and the total count would =240 according to the sentence below (6*10*4=240). Please clarify this discrepancy.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Comment [MLB22]: This word is spelled with "z" instead of an "s" in American English.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Comment [MLB15]: In American English, this word means "the dead body of animals."

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Comment [MLB23]: Please specify whether the test was before, during, or after testing.

Comment [MLB24]: You may need to specify what the program was (e.g., 12-h light/12-h dark cycle).

Comment [MLB25]: This information was included in a previous sentence to avoid redundancy.

Comment [MLB26]: This word is spelled with the "a" in American English.

Comment [MLB16]: Does this refer to data presented by Mourao *et al.* (2008)? Please clarify what study this data refers to. If it refers to Mourao *et al.*, please rephrase the sentence because it would appear to contradict the previous sentence in the case.

Comment [MLB17]: The final sentences/paragraph of the Introduction should state the aims of the current study, why it was necessary/important, and the overall approach taken.

Comment [MLB27]: Putting the unit for days after the numbers in this case implies that the starter diet was given for 1-21 days (meaning the length with which the starter diet was fed to varied).

Treatments groups included were as follows: P0=~~drinking water without containing only an antibiotic (control);~~ P1=~~drinking water without containing 0 ppm OWJE;~~ P2=~~drinking water without containing 250 ppm OWJE;~~ P3=~~drinking water without containing 500 ppm OWJE;~~ P4=~~drinking water without containing 750 ppm OWJE;~~ and P5=~~drinking water without containing 1000 ppm OWJE.~~ The approximate chemical composition of the broiler diets ~~were formulated used~~ is reported in Table 1. Diets were formulated to meet or exceed broiler nutrients requirements (NRC 1997). Feed and water were provided *ad*

libitum. Samples of the OJWE ~~orange waste juice~~ and diet were ground in a hammer mill with a 1-mm screen and analyzed in triplicate for dry matter, ash, crude protein (N_x×6.25), crude fiber, and ether extract content according to the methods of Association of Analytical Communities/AOAC methods (2000). The ingredients and chemical composition of the starter and finisher basal diets are shown in Table 2 ~~respectively~~. The body weight and feed intake ~~of~~ replicate birds were determined weekly ~~for all birds~~. Mean Average daily body weight gain, average ~~mean~~ total feed intake, and feed conversion ratios were then calculated.

Table 1. Ingredient ~~composition~~ of the basal starter and finisher diets fed to broilers chickens.

Ingredient, % as fed-basis	Starter diet (1-21 days)	Finisher diet (22-35 days)
Yellow corn (%)	48	51
Soybean meal, % crude protein	24	21
Fish meal (% CP)	11	9
Corn oil	3.25	3.25
Coconut cake (%)	8	8
CaCo ₃	1	1
DL-Methionine	0.375	0.375
L-Lysine	0.375	0.375

Vitamins and minerals

Supplied per kg of diet: Vitamin A₂ 12,000 IU; Vitamin E₂ 10 mg; Vitamin D₃ 2,200 IU; niacin₂ 35 mg; D-pantothenic acid₂ 12 mg; riboflavin₂ 3.63 mg; pyridoxine₂ 3.5 mg; thiamine₂ 2.4 mg; folic acid₂ 1.4 mg; biotin₂ 0.15 mg; Vitamin B₁₂ 0.03 mg; Manganese₂ 60 mg; Zinc₂ 40 mg; Iron₂ 1,280 mg; Copper₂ 8 mg; Iodine₂ 0.3 mg; Selenium₂ 0.2 mg

Table 2. Biochemical content analysis of experimental diets fed to broiler chickens during the experimental periods.

Item	Starter diet (1-21 days)	Finisher diet (22-35 days)
Metabolisable energy (kcal/kg) ¹⁾	3130.69	2923.83
Crude protein (%) ²⁾	22.05	20.01
Crude fibre (%) ²⁾	4.79	4.78
Ether extract (%) ²⁾	5.62	3.65
Ash (%) ²⁾	8.07	7.20
Lysine (%) ²⁾	0.97	0.90
Methionine (%) ²⁾	0.58	0.58
Met + Cys (%) ²⁾	0.37	0.37
Thereonine (%) ²⁾	0.35	0.35
Calcium (%) ²⁾	1.01	0.92
Phosphorus (%) ²⁾	0.65	0.60

Comment [MLB28]: If all of the other treatment groups contained antibiotics, please clarify how the P0 treatment differed from that of P1.

Comment [MLB31]: This word is spelled with "z" instead of a "s" in American English.

Comment [MLB32]: This word is spelled with "e" before the "r" in American English.

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB29]: Please clarify whether the water in these groups contained and antibiotic or not.

Comment [MLB30]: Nonstandard abbreviations should be defined at first use in the main text, apart from the Abstract. Nonstandard abbreviations should not be included not used more than twice in the main text, apart from the Abstract. Check target journal guidelines regarding standard and nonstandard abbreviations; they may provide a list of standard abbreviations that do not require deabbreviation at all (see yellow highlights).

Formatted: English (U.S.)

Comment [MLB33]: This should be changed to "days 1-21"; see related comment above.

Comment [MLB34]: This should be changed to "days 22-35"; see related comment above.

Formatted Table

Formatted: Right: -0.03 cm, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single

Comment [MLB35]: This information should be in parenthesis.

Comment [MLB36]: All abbreviations used in Table should be defined below in the table legend.

Comment [MLB37]: If this was also measured as "%," this symbol should be placed in parenthesis here as with other table cells (pink highlights in the table pertain to this issue).

Comment [MLB38]: This number should be subscripted.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Comment [MLB39]: This should be implied as

Formatted: English (U.S.)

Comment [MLB40]: This should be changed to

Comment [MLB41]: This should be changed to

Formatted Table

Comment [MLB42]: This word is spelled with

Comment [MLB43]: Please clarify what these

Comment [MLB44]: This "e" should come before

Comment [MLB45]: The correct spelling of the

Table 3. Effect of different levels of orange juice waste extract (OWJE) on broilers chickens performance.

Treatment	OWJE+ antibiotic	OWJE-0 ppm	OWJE-250 ppm	OWJE-500ppm	OWJE-750ppm	OWJE-1000ppm
Total feed intake, g/bird						
1-21 days	787,370±103,1 ^a	768,300±17,90 ^a	789,000±83,40 ^a	785,550±64,40 ^a	739,325±49,70 ^a	732,572±75,3a
22-35 days	1192,10±37,7	1191,60±55,0	1324,12±130,4	1386,75±151,7	1443,72±236,0	1529,875±131,1
Average daily gain, g/day/bird						
1-21 days	373,477±30,10 ^b	364,975±22,80 ^b	370,660±35,90 ^b	378,692±54,80 ^b	417,652±27,70 ^b	423,336±64,00 ^b
22-35 days	569,430±51,7	544,102±57,8	589,820±14,1	741,282±34,2	853,930±72,2	881,190±72,1
Feed conversion ratio, g/g						
1-21 days	2,09±0,30 ^{ba}	2,10±0,00 ^{ba}	2,13±0,10 ^a	1,93±0,10 ^{bac}	1,73±0,10 ^{bc}	1,64±0,30 ^c
22-35 days	2,09±10	2,20±0,1	2,16±0,2	1,87±0,2	1,65±0,1	1,63±0,2
Final body weight (g/bird)	1171,214±37,60 ^d	1195,739±54,80 ^{dc}	1242,790±134,80 ^{dc}	1263,410±152,30 ^{cb}	1303,920±236,70 ^b	1359,660±131,80 ^a
Water consumption ml/ekor/hr	155,76±15,86a	155,43±6,632a	163,27±12,00 ^a	152,84±17,73 ^a	162,17±4,21 ^a	158,48±15,64 ^a

Different superscripts Means in the same row with different superscripts refer to significantly different data ($P < 0.05$).

Statistical analysis

Data recorded for broilers chickens performance were statistically analyzed using the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Each treatment with four replications was used as completely randomised design, and drinking water pen was an experimental unit. Statistics were carried out using SAS version 8.0 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). If occurred necessary, a Duncan's multiple range test was applied to compare the differences between the means (Steel *et al.* 1997).

Results

Our results showed significant differences in mean daily Results on feed intake, mean daily body weight gain, and feed conversion ratios are presented in (Table 3). In eComparison with to the control treatment group (P0),

mean average feed consumption of birds given treatment OWJE in the drinking water, regardless of concentration, without containing OWJE in the starter phase developed in a better throughout way during the entire whole rearing period. Conversely, the incorporation of up to 1000 ppm OWJE in the drinking water mixtures resulted in the increasing feed intake and reflected by a increase in growth, and producing by a very much lower feed conversion ratio. Additionally, during the entire growing period, the better greater daily bodyweight gain was related to treatment including 1000 ppm OWJE treatment (P5) during the starter phase (days 1-21), whereas the significantly higher weight gains were achieved in broilers drinking water without containing 750 ppm OWJE (P4) throughout the for the whole finisher period (days 22-35 days). According to our results showed, there were

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Comment [MLB46]: There should always be a space between the number and its units. Please make this change here and throughout the table.

Comment [MLB47]: Please specify whether these treatments also contained antibiotics or not in the table legend.

Formatted Table

Comment [MLB48]: This should say "days 1-21" instead (green highlights pertain to this issue throughout this table).

Comment [MLB49]: Decimal points (".") and commas (",") are not interchangeable when used with numbers in English. Decimal points are only used to separate fractions of whole numbers (e.g. 0.1 = one-one hundredth), whereas commas are used to separate 10-thousands (10,000), 100-thousands (100,000), 1-millions places (1,000,000) etc. Please address this issue throughout the entire table.

Comment [MLB50]: This should say "days 22-35" instead (green highlights pertain to this issue throughout this table).

Comment [MLB51]: This word should be

Comment [MLB52]: Because the abbreviation

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB53]: This is not a common unit

Comment [MLB54]: The standardized

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

Comment [MLB55]: Be sure this variable is

Comment [MLB56]: 1) Most journals prefer

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: English (U.S.)

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB60]: Please verify whether the

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB61]: Saying "up to" means an

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB57]: This information does not

Comment [MLB62]: 1) Please verify whether

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MB58]: More comparison between

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

Comment [MLB59]: Serial commas are typical

Comment [MLB63]: Please verify whether the

significant ($P < 0.05$) differences ($P < 0.05$) in for mean the average daily body weight gain, average mean total feed intake, and feed conversion ratios. In particular, the significant lowest values of feed conversion ratio ~~was~~ ~~related~~ ~~obtained~~ by ~~to~~ broilers given fed dietary treatment including 750 ppm OWJE at the rate of 750 ppm during the finisher phase.

Discussion

Findings from this current study showed that mean the average daily body weight gain, mean average total feed intake, and feed conversion ratios during were higher of growth in broilers drinking water supplemented with including 1000 ppm OWJE during both the starter and finisher phases relative to in starter phase and in finisher phase was higher than other drinking water treatments OWJE concentrations. On the other hand conversely, drinking water without containing 750 ppm OWJE in the same phase resulted in higher feed consumption when compared to the other OWJE treatment groups. These results are in agreement with the findings reported by Nannapaneniet al. (2008) and Hernandez et al. (2004) on stated that when broilers were fed diets containing bioactive compounds.

In a previous study, Al-Kassie (2008) found that when fennel and rosemary powders were used as feed additives promoted growth in broiler chickens function as growth promoter. Moreover, Ademola et al. (2004) showed altered growth performance of stated that when broilers were given drinking water containing a mixture of extract from garlic (*Allium sativum*) and ginger (*Zingiber officinale*) extracts for their effect upon growth performance. Moreover, Nidaullah et al. (2010) stated reported that when broilers were drinking water containing a mixture of extracts from garlic (*Allium sativum*), ginger (*Zingiber officinale*), Neem (*Azadirachta indica*), and berberis

(*Berberis lycium*) extracts fed in mix for their affected broiler upon growth performance, and had immunostimulant and anticoccidial properties in broiler.

In our study, increased the higher trend in feed intake was observed recorded for broilers drinking water without containing 1000 ppm OWJE throughout during the entire whole rearing period. It is posited that the reduction in feed consumption rate in with 750 ppm OWJE and treatment with other treatments led to an increase in ration palatability. In addition, the bioactive compounds contained within OWJE the orange waste juice have been shown to can increase the immune system function in birds (Miller et al., 1989). Oluremi et al. (2006) reported that supplementation of broiler feed with up to 15% sweet orange rind can be used as a replacement for maize did not in the broiler diet of broiler up to 15% level without any adverse effects on performance.

Factors affecting broiler weight gain include Further, detrimental microorganisms which stimulate the immune system; of birds in this case, causing and thus dietary nutrients normally used instead applied to build protein and muscle are redirected in order to power are used in the immune processes system instead of animals. Hence, As well establish antibiotics can enhance growth in commercial animals (Apata 2009). Another factors that affect influences weight gain and growth are every factors those that expose affect animal health by weakening of the body and potentially leading to tissues erosion performance caused to reduced growth rate (Apata 2009). Gabriel et al. (2006) found that *Artemisia annua* leaf powder and extract oil of *Artemisia annua* had anticoccidiosis properties but and reduced the number of oocytes per gram of faeces, and as well as daily weight gain of broilers.

Comment [MB69]: Please specify whether the found and increase or decrease instead of "affect" here.

Comment [MLB64]: This sentence was combined and rephrased with the first sentence of the Results section to improve content flow.

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MB65]: More comparison between results at the different concentrations is needed in this section.

Comment [MLB70]: This sentence contradicts itself! An increase in palatability (i.e., better taste) would more likely related to an increase in feed consumption, not a decrease. Please clarify these issues by rephrasing.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB71]: It is incorrect to mention the full term after the abbreviation is defined in the main text.

Comment [MB66]: This sentence contradicts those presented in the results section and the next sentence of this paragraph. Please clarify these discrepancies by rephrasing the appropriate sentences throughout the text. ****Sentences stating contradictory results are highlighted in teal throughout the text.****

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MB72]: Please specify what type of performance is described here.

Comment [MLB67]: Please clarify whether this refers to the starter phase, finisher phase, or both phases.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB68]: Please specify whether the found and increase or decrease instead of "altered" here.

Comment [MLB73]: Latin words and abbreviations should be italicized.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Herein, the effects of the experimental OWJE in drinking water on broiler the feed conversion ratios of broilers were significant treatments. As well know feed conversion ratios are strictly related to the daily body weight gain and feed intake. As a Current results from our study showed that, the drinking water without containing added of OWJE functions as a as feed additive can used in drinking water in broiler function as growth promoter in broiler chickens. Therefore according to the results, we can concluded that OWJE positively influences broiler chicken growth traits of broiler chickens when administered in the drinking water during developmental periods, particularly particularly at or above 750 ppm indicating that 750 ppm OWJE at rate of 750 ppm can constitute a useful as feed additive in the drinking water of broilers especially during the growing phase. However, further research is needed to assess the effects of OWJE to improve the its suitability of OWJE as a drinking water supplement resource and growth promoter in poultry production.

Acknowledgements

We The author are very grateful to the Directorate general of Higher Education that was funded this experiment by Hibah Doktor Project Directorate General of Higher Education, Department of National Education, Republic of Indonesia, which helped fund this project.

References

Ademola S.G, G.O. Farinu, A.O. Ajayi and G.M. Babutunde. 2004. Growth, hematological and biochemical studies on garlic and ginger-fed broiler chicken. Moor. J. Agri. Res. 5(2): 122-128

Al-Kassie GAM (2008) The Effect of Anise and Rosemary on Broiler Performance. Int J Poult Sci 7, 243-245.

AOAC (2000) Official methods of analysis. 17th ed. Association of Official Analytical Chemists. Washington DC, USA.

Apata DF (2009) Antibiotic Resistance in Poultry. Int J Poult Sci 8, 404-408.

Aziz Mousavi SMA, Seidavi AR, Dadashbeiki M (2012) Effect of different levels of synbiotics on carcass characteristics of broiler. Res Opin Anim Vet Sci 2, 161-165.

Callaway TR, Carroll JA, Arthington JD, Pratt C, Edrington TS (2008) Citrus Products Decrease Growth of E. coli O157: H7 and Salmonella Typhimurium in Pure Culture and in Fermentation with Mixed Ruminant Microorganisms In Vitro. Foodborne Pathog Dis 5, 621-627.

Dibaji SM, Seidavi A, Asadpour L (2012) Effect of dietary inclusion of the synbiotic Biomin IMBO on broilers' some blood metabolites. Res Opin Anim Vet Sci 2, 10-13.

Gabriel I, Lessire M, Mallet S, Guillot JF (2006) Microflora of the digestive tract: critical factors and consequences for poultry. Worlds Poult Sci J 62, 499-511.

Haroen, U. 2013. Extraction and isolation phytochemical and antimicrobial activity of limonoid compounds from orange waste juice. Pakistan J Nutr. 12 (8): 730-735.

Haroen, U. 2014. Study of extract orange juice waste as feed additive in broiler ration : Disertation, Post Graduate Program of Andalas University.

Miller E.G, J.L. Porter, W.H. Binnie, I.Y. Guo and S. Hasegawa. 2004. Further studies on the anticancer activity of citrus limonoids. J. Agric. Food Chem. 52: 4908-4912.

Miller E.G, J.J. Peacock, T.C. Bourland, S.E. Taylor and J.M. Wright. 2008. Inhibition of oral carcinogenesis by citrus flavonoids. Nutrition and cancer. 60(1) :69-74.

Mourao JL, Pinheiro VM, Prates JAM, Bessa RJB, Ferreira LMA, Fontes CMGA, Pontes PIP (2008) Effect of Dietary Dehydrated Pasture and Citrus Pulp on the Performance and Meat Quality of Broiler Chickens. Poult Sci 87, 7.

Mourao JL, Pinheiro VM, Prates JAM, Bessa RJB, Ferreira LMA, Fontes CMGA, Pontes PIP (2008) Effect of Dietary Dehydrated

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MB74]: These sentences were combined and rephrased to improve clarity and eliminate redundancies. Please verify whether the edited sentence is still correct.

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [MLB75]: Please verify whether the edited sentence is correct as the original did not make sense.

- Pasture and Citrus Pulp on the Performance and Meat Quality of Broiler Chickens. *Poult Sci* 87, 733-743.
- Nadaullah H, F. R. Durrani, S. Ahmad, I. U. Jan and S. Gul. 2010. Aqueous extract from different medicinal plant as anti coccidial, growth promotive and immunostimulant in broiler. *ARPN. J. Agri. Biol.* 5(1):53-59.
- Nannapaneni R, A.Muthaiyan, P.G. Crandall, M.G. Johnson, C.A. O'Bryan, Chalova, T.R. Callaway, J.A. Carroll, J.D. Arthington, D.J. Nisbet, S.C. Ricke. 2008. Antimicrobial activity of commercial citrus-based natural extracts against escherichia coli 0157: H7 Isolates and mutant strains. *foodborne path* 5: 695-699.
- Nannapaneni R, Muthaiyan A, Crandall PG, Johnson MG, O'Bryan CA, Chalova VI, Callaway TR, Carroll JA, Arthington JD, Nisbet DJ, Ricke SC (2008) Antimicrobial Activity of Commercial Citrus-Based Natural Extracts Against Escherichia coli 0157:H7 Isolates and Mutant Strains. *Foodborne Path Dis* 5, 695-699.
- NRC (1997) Nutrient Requirements of Poultry, 9th rev. ed., National Research Council, Washington, USA 33-743.
- Oluremi OIA, Ojighen VO, Ejembi, EH (2006) The Nutritive Potentials of Sweet Orange (*Citrus sinensis*) Rind in Broiler Production. *Int J Poult Sci* 5, 613-617.
- Pascual M, M. Hugas, J. I. Badiola, J.M. Monfort and M. Garriga. 1999. *Lactobacillus salivarius* CTC 2197 prevents salmonella enteritidis colonization In chicken. *Applied and environ. Microbiology* : 65 (11) : 4981-4986.
- Roy A and S. Saraf. 2006. Limonoids overview of significant bioactive triterpenes distributed in plants kingdom. *Biol. Pharm. Bull* 29(2):191-201.
- Steel RGD, Torrie JH, Dicky DA (1997) Principles and Procedures of Statistics: A Biometrical Approach, 3rd Edition. McGraw-Hill Series in Probability and Statistics, WCB/McGraw-Hill, New York, USA
- Miller E.G, R. Fanous, F. H. Rivera W.H., Binnie and S. Hasegawa. 1989. The effect of citrus limonoids on hamster buccal pouch carcinogenesis. *Carcinogenesis* 10: 1535-1537.
- Tanaka T, H. Kohno, K. Kawaqbata, S. Honjo and M. Miyake and K. Wada. 2000. Citrus limonoids obacunone and limonin inhibit the development of a precursor lesion aberrant crypt foci for colon cancer in rats. In Citrus limonoids functional chemicals in agriculture and foods. Ed. M. Berhow, S. Hasegawa and G. Manners. 758: 145-163.
- Yu J, L.L. Wang, Rosemary, Walzemm, E.G. Miller, L. Pike and B.S. Pail. 2005. Antioxidant activity of citrus limonoid, flavonoid, and coumarins. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 37: 878-880